
 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 
 
 
THE EXECUTIVE - INDIVIDUAL EXECUTIVE DECISIONS 
 
Date: 
 

Wednesday, 23 June 2021 

 
22 June 2021 

 

PART 1 

1. DEFRA Waste Consultation (Pages 3 - 32) 

 
MARK TRILLO 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR & MONITORING OFFICER 
 
 

 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
 Individual Executive Decision for comment by 22 June 2021 (please send all 

comments to democratic.services@highpeak.gov.uk) 
 

23 June 2021 
 

 
TITLE: 

 
DEFRA Waste Consultation 

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 
Councillor Todd - Executive Councillor for 
Climate Change, Environment and 
Community Safety 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Nicola Kemp - Head of Service 
Commissioning 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
Non specific 

 
 

Appendices Attached   
Appendix 1 – Draft Consistency Consultation response - HPBC 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to bring to the attention of the Executive 

Councillor for Climate Change, Environment and Community Safety the 
consultation that is underway in regards to the Resources & Waste Strategy, 
to detail the potential implications for this Council and to obtain approval for 
the consultation response that has been drafted by officers. 

 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Executive Councillor for Climate Change, Environment and 
Community Safety: 

 Note the three consultations released by the Department of 
Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (DEFRA) in recent months and the 
potential implications that the proposals contained within them may 
have on this Council. 

 Approve the draft consistency consultation response that has been 
produced to enable a response to be submitted to this consultation 
ahead of the 4th July 2021 deadline. 

 
3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 Government published its new Resources and Waste Strategy on 18 

December 2018. The strategy outlines a series of commitments and areas for 
further consultation aimed at reducing waste and promoting resource 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



  

efficiency, including the elimination of avoidable waste of all kinds by 2050. 
 

3.2 The strategy proposed a number of key changes which will be pivotal to 
change the face of waste management in future. This includes: 
• Reforming the UK packaging producer responsibility system (Enhanced 

producer responsibility – EPR) by 2023.  
• Plastic Packaging Tax – A new tax on businesses that produce or import 

plastic packaging which use insufficient recycled content. Proposed to be 
introduced by April 2022. 

• Introducing a Deposit Return Scheme (DRS) in England, Wales and 
Northern Ireland by 2023– In order to increase the amount of drinks 
containers recycled and reduce the amount of which that are littered. 

• Creating a consistent methodology of undertaking recycling collections in 
England – to increase recycling performance nationally and remove 
inconsistencies. 

 

3.3 In Spring 2019 Government undertook initial consultation on these four main 
areas of the strategy's aspirations, results were published in Autumn 2019 
confirming further consultation would occur on the detail linked to the 
proposals. This further consultation was expected in Spring 2020 which was 
then delayed due to the coronavirus pandemic. 

 
3.4 In April 2021 further consultation was launched by DEFRA on the proposed 

EPR and DRS schemes, providing a ten week consultation period with a 
deadline for responses being set at 4th June 2021. In May, post the local 
elections, the long awaited consultation on consistency was released, 
providing only an eight week consultation period, the deadline for responses to 
such being the 4th July 2021. The consultation seeks comments on mainly 
technical matters relating to the collection of recyclable materials. 

 
3.5 This report seeks to provide an overview of these three consultations, detail 

the potential implications for this Council recognising that these are still not yet 
fully known and to obtain approval from the Portfolio Holder for the 
Environment of the draft consultation response that has been produced by 
officers to enable this to be submitted to DEFRA ahead of the 4th July 2021 
deadline. Further reports outlining the outcome of the consultation exercises 
and their implications on the Council will be presented to future meetings of 
the relevant Select Committees and the Executive. 

 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1 One of the four aims of the Council’s Corporate Plan is “to protect and 

improve the environment and respond to the climate emergency”. This 
includes the objective “Effective recycling and waste management”.   

 
4.2 The outcomes of the consultation and proposals made by Government will 

ultimately affect the services we offer to households and businesses within our 
district with the aim of improving nationally the amount of waste recycled or 
composted and thus increasing the country’s recycling performance. 

 

Page 4



  

5. Alternative Options 
 
5.1 In regards to this report and its recommendations there are two options 

available to this council: 
 1. To submit a response to the consistency consultation so that our local voice 

is heard. The aspiration being that any concerns will be listened to and 
addressed by Government before the changes proposed are enshrined in law. 
(Recommended) 

 2. Do nothing – This would involve taking note of the proposals but not 
submitting any response to the consistency consultation and awaiting any final 
decisions that Government make. (not recommended) 

 
 
6. Implications 
 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
Not applicable 
 

6.2 Workforce 
The proposals made within the consultations could have an impact 
on the level of staffing resource that is required to deliver waste 
and recycling services in future. 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
Not applicable 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
Unknown at this time however it is recognised that once enshrined 
in law the changes proposed by the consultation could have 
significant implications for local authorities. 
 

6.5 Legal 
Not applicable at this time 
 

6.6 Climate Change 
The aspirations of the Resources and Waste Strategy and its 
related proposals aim to increase recycling activity nationally, to 
help drive a circular economy thus ensuring resources are reused 
or recycled rather than disposed of.  
 

6.7 
 

Consultation 
Not applicable  
 

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
Not applicable 

 
Mark Trillo 

Executive Director (Governance & Commissioning) 
 

Page 5



  

Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

Resources & waste Strategy 
Consistency consultation 

Nicola Kemp 
Head of Service Commissioning 
nicola.kemp@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

 
7. Detail 
 

7.1 Government published its new Resources and Waste Strategy on 18 
December 2018. The strategy outlines a series of commitments and areas for 
further consultation aimed at reducing waste and promoting resource 
efficiency, including the elimination of avoidable waste of all kinds by 2050.  

7.2 Its two overarching objectives are to maximise the value of resource use; and 
minimise waste and its impact on the environment. 

 
7.3  All policies in the strategy contribute towards at least one of the ‘strategic 

principles’: 
1. To provide incentives, through regulatory or economic instruments if 

necessary and appropriate, and ensure infrastructure, information and 
skills are in place, for people to do the right thing;  

2. To prevent waste from occurring in the first place, and manage it better 
when it does;  

3. To ensure that those who place products on the market which become 
waste, take greater responsibility for the costs of disposal – the ‘polluter 
pays’ principle;  

4. To lead by example, both domestically and internationally; and To not allow 
our ambition to be undermined by criminality. 

 

7.4 The Strategy also seeks to deliver ‘five strategic ambitions’: 
• To work towards all plastic packaging being recyclable, reusable or 

compostable by 2025; 
• To work towards eliminating food waste to landfill by 2030; 
• To eliminate avoidable plastic waste over the lifetime of the 25 Year 

Environment Plan; 
• To double resource productivity by 2050; and 
• To eliminate avoidable waste of all kinds by 2050. 

 

7.5 The strategy proposed a number of key changes which will be pivotal to 
change the face of waste management in future. This includes: 
• Reforming the UK packaging producer responsibility system (Enhanced 

producer responsibility – EPR) -  
– A major review of producer responsibility regimes for packaging, 

WEEE (waste, electronic and electrical equipment) and batteries to 
shake-up the funding of the collection and processing of such waste 
so that more money is paid into the system by obligated businesses 
enabling infrastructure improvements to be made. 

• Plastic Packaging Tax –  
– A new tax on businesses that produce or import plastic packaging 

which use insufficient recycled content.  

Page 6

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/resources-and-waste-strategy-for-england
https://consult.defra.gov.uk/waste-and-recycling/consistency-in-household-and-business-recycling/


  

– The tax will set a rate that provides an economic incentive for 
businesses to use recycled material in the production of plastic 
packaging, thus creating demand to in turn stimulating increased 
levels of recycling and collection of plastic waste, diverting it from 
landfill or incineration.  

– The strategy proposes that Businesses will have until April 2022 to 
adapt their processes before the introduction of the tax.  

 
• Introducing a Deposit Return Scheme (DRS) in England, Wales and 

Northern Ireland –  
– Packaging recycling rates demonstrate that there are significant 

improvements to be made in drinks container recycling.  
– Drinks container litter is a serious issue which needs targeted policy 

action to overcome, with disposable containers, or parts of them, 
regularly featuring among the most commonly found items on UK 
beaches.  

– This proposal which is proposed to be introduced by 2023 seeks to 
address these issues by introducing a financial incentive to the 
public to increase recycling rates and appropriate waste 
management of drinks containers of materials including plastics but 
also glass, cans etc. 

• Consistency in recycling collections in England –  
– what materials should be collected for recycling,  
– from which types of premises,  
– how and at what frequency.  
– Seeking to increase recycling performance nationally and remove 

inconsistencies. 
 

7.6 In Spring 2019 Government undertook initial consultation on these four main 
areas of the strategy's aspirations, results were published in Autumn 2019 
confirming further consultation would occur on the detail linked to the 
proposals. This further consultation was expected in Spring 2020 which was 
delayed due to the coronavirus pandemic. 

 
7.7 In April 2021 further consultation was launched on the proposed EPR and 

DRS schemes, providing a ten week consultation period with a deadline for 
responses being set at 4th June 2021. In May, post the local elections, the long 
awaited consultation on consistency was released, providing only an eight 
week consultation period, the deadline for responses to such being the 4th July 
2021. 

 

8.  DRS & EPR consultation 

 
8.1  DEFRA have suggested a timeline of implementation of 2023 within these two 

consultations for a new DRS and EPR scheme, suggesting schemes will be 
operational by the start of 2024. The proposals, once implemented, should 
increase both the quantity and quality of recycling through in-scope containers; 
encourage closed-loop recycling, simplify messaging and guidance for 
residents & businesses, and reduce the amount of litter.  

 

Page 7



  

DRS consultation 
 
8.2 The consultation on the introduction of the DRS aims to “…set out the aims of 

introducing a deposit return scheme, which would be to reduce the amount of 
littering, boost recycling levels for relevant material, offer the enhanced 
possibility to collect high quality materials in greater quantities and promote 
recycling through clear labelling and consumer messaging.”  

 
8.3 By offering a return value on target materials (HDPE & PET plastic drinks 

bottles; steel & aluminium cans, and glass bottles) through a DRS, 
Government aim to encourage residents to return the target containers to their 
nearest return point in order to obtain the deposit back and to increase 
recycling, and thus to discourage residents from littering these target items. 

 
8.4 The scheme if implemented would be managed by a Deposit Management 

Organisation (DMO), who would manage all DRS operations. The DMO would 
also ensure that financial provisions are made for Local Authorities. DEFRA 
suggest that the introduction of an ‘All-In DRS’ alongside EPR will lead to an 
increase in recycling nationally by 2030 of 16%.  

 
8.5 DEFRA propose implementing either an ‘All-In DRS’ or an ‘On-the-Go DRS’, 

the former of which is their preferred option. The ‘All-In’ scheme would accept 
all drinks containers placed on the market, regardless of the size. Whereas, 
the ‘On the-Go’ scheme would be limited to 750ml containers or less, targeting 
the items that are more likely to be consumed outside of the home. 

 
8.6 The DRS consultation also looks to review the need for mandatory labelling of 

in-scope items, which can be clearly identified by the consumer, encouraging 
user engagement, whilst also reducing the risk of consumers trying to obtain a 
return for non-target items. DEFRA state that all labelling within the scheme 
should be as simple and clear as possible.  

 
Extended producer responsibility (EPR) 
 
8.7 The Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) consultation aims to increase 

the recycling of packaging by making producers fully responsible for the waste 
management costs of the packaging that they put onto the market. As a result, 
producers should in theory, reduce the amount of packaging in products and 
should seek recyclable or reusable alternatives.  

 
8.8 Therefore producers fees will be modulated through EPR in order to 

incentivise them to use recyclable packaging. Should producers use non-
recyclable packaging they will have to pay higher fees. However, if they move 
towards more recyclable packaging, fees will be varied to provide financial 
support to those who are willing to invest.  

 
8.9 DEFRA are also looking to implement clear, mandatory labelling on packaging 

in the EPR consultation, in order to ensure that consumers know whether or 
not the packaging can be recycled. It is hoped that this clarity and simplicity in 
both messaging and guidelines should increase recycling across the industry.  

 

Page 8



  

8.10 The EPR & DRS consultations inevitably ask many questions which are 
focussed more at the packaging industry and producers than a local authority. 
For this reason discussions have occurred at a county level via the 
Staffordshire Waste Partnership, resulting in a county wide response being 
issued to DERFA on these two specific consultations.  

 

9. Consistency consultation 

 
9.1 This consultation poses 79 questions, all of which are relevant to local 

authorities, as well as many private waste collectors.  
 
9.2 This consultation details how DEFRA are looking to implement consistency in 

recycling collections for businesses and residents across England, in order to 
ensure that we collect the highest quality and quantity of recycling.  

 
9.3 They propose that all local authorities collect a core set of dry recycling 

materials from all households and businesses by October 2023. The core set 
of materials proposed are: 

 Glass bottles and containers– including drinks bottles, condiment bottles, 
jars, 

 Paper and card– including newspaper, cardboard packaging, writing paper, 

 Plastic bottles including clear drinks containers, HDPE (milk containers), 
detergent, shampoo and cleaning products, 

 Plastic pots, tubs and trays 

 Steel and aluminium tins and cans, aerosols, aluminium tubes, foil and 
trays and metal jar/bottle lids 

 Food and drinks cartons e.g. Tetrapak 
 

9.4 The consultation also proposes that more flexible plastics such as plastic film 
is considered for collection by no later than 2026/27.  

 
9.5 DEFRA are consulting on the feasibility of multi-stream collection systems, 

where some of these items may be collected separately to one another, or 
together for example plastics and metals, this is to ensure that quality is not 
comprised by collecting materials together.  

 
9.6 The consultation therefore considers whether exemptions should apply for the 

collection of some material streams together i.e. plastic and metal or glass and 
metal or where it is not technically, economically or environmentally 
practicable to collect any dry recyclable materials separately, in this instance 
collecting them comingled would be permitted.  

 
9.7 In order to demonstrate this, a written assessment will need to be produced. 

The consultation, as a result, asks a number of questions on what information 
this assessment should include, how this document should be produced and 
how often.  

 
9.8 We already know that every waste collector will have to provide a mandatory, 

weekly food waste collection to all homes and businesses they serve, this was 
confirmed after the 2019 consultations. It is proposed that this be in place by 

Page 9



  

2023/24 if food waste is already collected separately. However, where local 
authorities don’t have existing food waste treatment contracts in place, have 
other long term contracts, or collect food and garden waste together already, it 
is proposed that changes to separate these waste streams occurs between 
2024/25 and 2030/31. 

 
 
9.9 It is proposed that a free of charge, fortnightly collection of garden waste, is 

provided to all households throughout the growing season, this is required 
from 2023/24.  

 
9.10 Positively in this round of Consistency consultation the feasibility of introducing 

consistent bin colours nationally, in order to reduce confusion when residents 
move across Council borders, has been removed from the proposals.  

 
10. Potential implications on collection services 
 
Dry recyclables 
 
10.1 The collection services we offer to business and residents will probably need 

to change to meet the obligations of the strategy which will be enshrined in the 
Environment Bill. 
 

10.2 What we know for definite is: 
– every council will have to provide its residents and businesses with a 

mandatory, weekly food waste collection, 
– Every council will have to collect from its residents and businesses: 

glass bottles and jars, paper and card, plastic bottles, plastic pots, tubs 
and trays, steel and aluminium cans, foil and tubes. With more flexible 
plastics and films likely to be introduced at a later date, 

– Materials should be collected separately from each other and from 
general waste.  

 
10.3 With the exception of plastic film, HPBC already collects the list of core dry 

recyclable materials that we will be required to collect by 2023/24 from all 
households. All businesses currently in High Peak have the ability to have a 
collection of the core materials via our chargeable commercial recycling 
service. 

 
10.4 From this consultation we don’t yet know whether we will be able to collect any 

recyclable materials together in one container as we currently do. Whilst 
exemptions may be allowed we don’t yet know what these will be and will 
need to await the results of the consultation.   

 
10.5 The impact of the DRS scheme, if introduced, will inevitably have an impact on 

the amount of drinks containers presented for recycling at the kerbside. 
Volumes of these usually highly valuable materials will therefore reduce as 
residents will want to obtain their deposit back. This will have an impact 
operationally meaning it is likely we will see a fall in tonnages presented at the 
kerbside, the level of which will initially be unknown, creating a difficulty when 

Page 10



  

assessing the resources (amount of vehicles and staff) we will need to collect 
dry recyclables. 

 
10.6 The reduction of dry recycling tonnage may also affect the viability of existing 

contracts with re-processors, as the reduction in tonnage would make it harder 
to forecast tonnages over the course of the contract. Via the AES contract, the 
existing recycling treatment arrangement we have in place expires in late 
March 2023, which is timely in regards to the changes Government are 
proposing later that year. Any new contract will therefore need to take account 
of the pending changes we will be required to make and consider the impact of 
the DRS scheme if introduced. 

 
10.7 Some DRS containers may still end up in our kerbside collections, and so the 

DMO must provide a clear strategy and efficient payment system to ensure 
that Local Authorities are incentivised to return the materials. This will ensure 
that the deposited materials will stay within the system, encouraging closed-
loop recycling. 

 
10.8 However, separating these materials could prove difficult and costly, as the 

DRS material would have to be separated from our kerbside material i.e. glass 
bottles from glass jars by either ourselves or at the Material Recovery Facility 
(MRF). This could therefore incur additional costs to the Local Authority.  

 
10.9 The list of core materials may also expand in the future to include plastic films 

and bags. Whilst it is proposed that the costs of waste management be paid 
by producers through EPR, we need to accept that further changes to service 
may be inevitable. 

 
Food and garden waste 
 
10.10 Whilst we currently collect food waste alongside garden waste fortnightly from 

the majority of homes within the High Peak, we will be required to increase the 
frequency of our collection of food waste to weekly from homes and 
businesses. Garden waste can continue to be collected fortnightly meaning we 
will need to assess the suitability of collecting both waste streams weekly, or 
separately from each other.   

 
10.11 Those properties not currently provided with a food and or garden waste 

service include many communal properties i.e. flats or apartments where 
shared bins are used. Service provision will mandatory to all homes in future 
and so a review of service for these households will be required.  

 
10.12 We don’t currently offer a food and garden waste collection service to 

businesses in the High Peak, such a scheme was in the process of being set 
up in 2020 pre pandemic. We had planned to collect this waste stream whilst 
collecting from nearby homes, meaning it would be collected on a fortnighty 
basis. Whilst a roll out of this service can still occur, we will in future need to 
review these collections in order to facilitate a mandatory weekly collection of 
food waste from businesses.  

 
11. Potential financial implications  

Page 11



  

 
11.1 Government are confirming that any costs incurred by LA’s to transition their 

services will be borne via new burdens and that as a result we will not be 
worse off as a result of the need for change. Therefore it is assumed that all 
transitional costs will be paid for. 

 

11.2 Though financial support will be provided by Government, the transition to a 
different collection scheme and the implementation of separate, weekly food 
waste collection will require a vast communications campaign; potential 
replacement or purchase of additional collection vehicles, as its likely different 
and possibly more vehicles would be required; if more vehicles are needed 
there will be an inevitably impact on staffing numbers required; and a potential 
for new containers in order to collect some waste streams separately from 
others i.e. food waste or the separation of dry recyclables.  

 
11.3 Whilst a DRS may divert waste from our kerbside collections, the increased 

recyclability of packaging and the financial support that EPR provides, should 
ensure that Local Authorities are not financially disadvantaged. The 
administrative burden that this new system will bring to local authorities is 
however not yet fully understood but could mean additional staffing resource is 
required.  

 
11.4 The inevitable reduction of target dry recyclables (plastic bottles, drinks cans 

and glass bottles) as a result of DRS, could mean that recycling credits should 
no longer be payable on these materials, this is also considered within the 
consultation.  

 
11.5 The introduction of a DRS should reduce the amount and cost of litter 

collection across the high peak, as most commonly littered items should fall in-
scope of the scheme. Local Authorities should also be compensated by the 
DMO if we service any designated deposit return points from commercial 
premises.   

 
11.6 The Consistency consultation suggests that local authorities may be exempt 

from the some of the required changes i.e. separate collections of all dry 
recyclables as long as they clearly show that such changes would not be 
technically, environmentally or economically practical. This will need to be 
demonstrated through a written assessment which will be reviewed by the 
Environment Agency.  

 
11.7 Within DEFRA’s suggested timescale, recognising that the large majority of 

local authorities will also have to make similar changes at the same time, 
clarity is required on the service standards we need to provide promptly to 
ensure that AES/SMDC have sufficient time to assess the need for service 
change and to undertake the necessary procurement processes to obtain new 
treatment contracts, collection vehicles and/or containers to support the 
change.   

 
11.8 It is therefore inevitable that a significant amount of work will need to occur in 

the coming 2-3 years in order to ensure our collection services meet the needs 
of the new legal requirements that will be set as a result of the recent 

Page 12



  

consultations. We hope therefore that notification of these, once finalised are 
shared with local authorities as promptly as possible.   

 
 

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 – Draft Consistency Consultation response - HPBC 

 
 

Question Answers 

Part 1: Measures to improve the quantity and quality of household recycling 

Proposal 1 - Collection of dry recyclable materials  

Q6 Do you agree or disagree that local authorities should be required to collect the following dry 
materials from all households, including flats, by the end of the financial year in which 
payments to local authorities under 20 Current timelines for Extended Producer Responsibility 
delivery from October 2023, subject to further consultation Extended Producer Responsibility 
for packaging commences (currently proposed to be 2023/4 subject to consultation)? 

  

Aluminium foil   Agree 

Aluminium food trays Agree 

Steel and aluminium aerosols  Agree 

Aluminium tubes, e.g. tomato puree tubes Agree 

Metal jar lids Agree 

Food and drink cartons, e.g. TetraPak Agree 

      

Q7 If you have disagreed with the inclusion of any of the additional materials above in the 
timeframe set out, please state why this would not be feasible, indicating which dry recyclable 
material you are referring to in your response. Not applicable 

      

Q8 Some local authorities may not be able to collect all these items from all households at 
kerbside by 2023/24. Under what circumstances might it be appropriate for these collection 
services to begin after this date?   

  Collection contracts Yes 

  Sorting contracts Yes 

  Materials Recovery Facility (MRF) infrastructure capacity Yes 

  Cost burden Yes 

  Reprocessing Yes 

  End markets Yes 

  Other (please specify)   

P
age 15



Appendix 1 – Draft Consistency Consultation response - HPBC 

 
 

  

Please provide the reason for your response and indicate how long local authorities require 
before they can collect all of these materials, following the date that funding is available from 
Extended Producer Responsibility. 

Whilst not applicable to HPBC, some LAs may be bound to long 
term contracts which are difficult to amend, or may be cost 
prohibitive. Start dates needs to reflect this. Also we need to 
ensure all collected materials have end markets and can be 
processed, otherwise it would defeat the point of collecting these 
items. Delays with EPR would also need to be considered if 
appropriate. 

      

Q9 Do you agree or disagree that food and drink cartons should be included in the plastic 
recyclable waste stream in regulations, to reduce contamination of fibres (paper and card)? Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable 

  

Please provide the reason for your response and state if there are any unintended 
consequences that we should consider 

Unsure of impact on plastic recyclable stream, maybe difficult to 
communication to the public that a carton which looks more like 
fibre should be in the plastic stream, unsure what impact a 
carton has on the quality of fibre once sorted/reprocessed. The 
decision needs to ensure quality of the stream isn't compromised 
by this decision. 

      

Q10 Assuming food and drink cartons are included by the date that Extended Producer 
Responsibility commences, what would be the financial impact on gate fees and processing 
costs from sending mixed material streams containing cartons into a Materials Recovery 
Facility? Not sure / don’t have an opinion / not applicable 

  

Please provide the reason for your response. 

For HPBC cartons are already collected in our current comingled 
collection service. Therefore there may be no impact for us, but 
for other LAs that do not collect such materials currently there 
could be a financial impact or at the point of any new 
procurement. 

      

Proposal 2 - Collection of plastic films from households 

Q11 Do you agree or disagree that local authorities should adopt the collection of this material from 
all households, including flats, no later than 2026/27? Agree 

  If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response Not applicable 

P
age 16



Appendix 1 – Draft Consistency Consultation response - HPBC 

 
 

      

Q12 Which of the following reasons might prevent plastic film collections being offered to all 
households by the end of the financial year 2026/27?   

Collection contracts Yes 

Sorting contracts Yes 

Materials Recovery Facility (MRF) infrastructure capacity Yes 

Cost burden Yes 

Reprocessing Yes 

End markets Yes 

Other (please specify)   

Please provide the reason for your response and provide evidence to support your response 

Timeframe proposed gives LAs time to enter into new contractual 
arrangements, need to create demand for material in the UK as 
we need to ensure that if this material stream is collected it is 
reprocessed. Potential benefit via EPR of income generated for 
LAs for collecting the material.  

      

Proposal 3 -  Definition of food waste 

Q13 Do you agree or disagree that the above should be collected for recycling within the food waste 
stream? Agree 

  If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response and specify which materials should 
be included or excluded in this definition. Not applicable 

      

Proposal 4 -  Separate collection of food waste from households for recycling 

Q14 Which parts of Proposal 4 do you agree or disagree with?   

Local authorities already collecting food waste separately must continue to collect this material 
for recycling at least weekly from the 2023/24 financial year Agree 

Local authorities should have a separate food waste collection service (at least weekly) in place 
for all household properties including flats as quickly as contracts allow Agree 

P
age 17



Appendix 1 – Draft Consistency Consultation response - HPBC 

 
 

Local authorities without existing contracts in place that would be affected by introducing a 
separate food waste collection service should have a separate food waste collection service in 
place (at least weekly), for all households including flats, by the 2024/25 financial year at the 
latest Agree 

Local authorities with long term existing mixed food/garden waste collection or disposal 
contracts in place should have a separate food waste collection service in place (at least 
weekly) for all household properties including flats as soon as soon as contracts allow, with an 
end date to meet this requirement between 2024/25 and 2030/31 Agree 

Local authorities with long term residual waste disposal contracts affected by introducing a 
separate food waste collection service (e.g. some Energy from Waste or Mechanical Biological 
Treatment contracts) should introduce a separate food waste collection service (at least 
weekly) to all households including flats as soon as contracts allow, with an end date to meet 
this requirement to be set between 2024/25 and 2030/31 Agree 

Please provide any views on the end date for these obligations and any evidence on associated 
costs and benefits. 

Extended timeframes of roll outs will enable LAs time to put new 
arrangements in place. Potential for exemptions for LAs to co-
collect food and garden waste are being considered later in 
consultation. Separate collection of food waste weekly will have 
significant cost impact for LAs not collecting this waste in this 
way, actual costs are not yet known but will include need to 
supply new containers, purchase new vehicles, employ more 
employees and related operating costs for treatment etc. 

      

Q15 Some local authorities may experience greater barriers to introducing a separate food waste 
collection service to all household properties, including flats, by the dates proposed above. For 
what reasons might it be appropriate for these collection services to begin after this date?   

Collection contracts Yes 

Sorting contracts Yes 

Materials Recovery Facility (MRF) infrastructure capacity Yes 

Cost burden Yes 

Reprocessing Yes 

End markets Yes 

P
age 18



Appendix 1 – Draft Consistency Consultation response - HPBC 

 
 

Other (please specify)   

If you have disagreed with any of the proposed implementation dates above, please  
provide examples of circumstances where it would be appropriate for this collection  
service to begin after these proposed dates and any supporting evidence where  
possible Not applicable 

      

Proposal 5 - Caddy liners 

Q16 Do you agree or disagree with this proposal? Please provide any other comments on the use of 
caddy liners in separate food waste collections, including on any preferences for caddy liner 
material types Agree 

  

  

Liners if provided must meet appropriate standards suitable for 
treatment facility to avoid contamination issues. By not forcing 
LAs to issue such they have the option to choose if provision is 
affordable and will impact positively. 

Proposal 6 - biodegradable and compostable plastics packaging materials 

Q17 

Do you have any comments on how the collection and disposal of compostable and 
biodegradable materials should be treated under recycling consistency reforms? For example, 
this could include examples of what should be provided in guidance on the collection and 
disposal of these materials 

These materials are often mislabelled and this would reflect back 
to EPR. Correct labelling is needed to ensure they are suitable for 
AD or IVC facilities, many are often only suitable for home costing 
and therefore affect quality of the produced compost.  Green 
labelling will have a negative effect on the quality and those costs 
will be put back onto the LA by suppliers.  

      

Q18 Do you agree or disagree that anaerobic digestion plants treating food waste should be 
required to include a composting phase in the treatment process? Not sure / no opinion 

  Please provide any evidence where possible and explain any advantages and disadvantages Would doing so increase costs? 

      

Proposal 7 - Definition of garden waste 

Q19 Do you agree or disagree with the materials included in and excluded from this description of 
garden waste? Agree 

  If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response and specify which materials should 
be included or excluded in this definition. Not applicable 

P
age 19



Appendix 1 – Draft Consistency Consultation response - HPBC 

 
 

      

Proposal 8 - Increasing the recycling of garden waste from households 

Q20 Given the above costs, recycling benefits and carbon emissions reductions, do you agree or 
disagree that local authorities should be required to introduce a free minimum standard 
garden waste collection (240 litre containers, fortnightly collection frequency and throughout 
the growing season45), if this is fully funded by Government, and if authorities remain free to 
charge for more frequent collections and/or additional capacity? Agree 

  

Please provide any comments or evidence on the costs and benefits presented above 

Agree will lead to increased recycling performance nationally, 
could reduce fly tipping of garden waste but impact of separating 
food and garden waste will mean increased need for vehicles on 
the road which could negatively impact carbon emissions. 

      

Proposal 9 - Garden waste options 

Q21 How likely are the following options to support the above policy aims?   

Provide updated guidance on reasonable charges for garden waste Likely 

Issue clear communications to non-participating households Likely 

Support on increasing home composting (e.g. subsidised bin provision) Unlikely 

      

Q22 

Do you have any further comments on the above options, or any other alternatives that could 
help to increase the recycling of garden waste and/or reduce the quantity of garden waste in 
the residual waste stream? Please provide supporting evidence where possible 

Comms campaign focussed to all households to explain why we 
should recycle garden waste may help rather than focussing on 
non-participators. Compositional analysis targeting the residual 
bins to divert waste from EfW or landfill. Consideration of a tax 
for Energy from Waste (EfW). 

      

Proposal 10 - Exemptions for the separate collection of two recyclable waste streams from households 

Q23 Could the following recyclable waste streams be collected together from households, without 
significantly reducing the potential for those streams to be recycled?   

Plastic and metal Agree 

Glass and metal Agree 

P
age 20



Appendix 1 – Draft Consistency Consultation response - HPBC 

 
 

  If you have agreed with either of the above, please provide evidence to justify why any 
proposed exemption would be compatible with the general requirement for separate collection 
of each recyclable waste stream 

These material streams are already co-collected and are unlikely 
to contaminate each other. Sorting mechanisms are already in 
place at many material recycling facilities (MRFs). 

      

Q24 What, if any, other exemptions would you propose to the requirement to collect the recyclable 
waste in each waste stream separately, where it would not significantly reduce the potential 
for recycling or composting? 

Proposal for metal, plastics and glass to be co-collected. We 
provided this service some years ago very successfully with little 
contamination and good quality end product being produced.  

      

Proposal 11 - conditions where an exception may apply, and two or more recyclable waste streams may be collected together from households 

Q25 

Do you have any views on the proposed definition for ‘technically practicable’? 

Definition of "in practice" needs quantifying, a scheme could 
operate well in a small area which wouldn't be realistic if rolled 
out across a wider area.  

      

Q26 Do you agree or disagree that the proposed examples cover areas where it may not be 
‘technically practicable’ to deliver separate collection? Agree 

  If you disagree with any of the above, please provide the reason for your response and indicate 
which example you are referring to Not applicable 

      

Q27 What other examples of areas that are not ‘technically practicable’ should be considered in this 
proposal? Please be as specific as possible No other examples spring to mind. 

      

Q28 Do you agree or disagree that the proposed examples cover areas that may not be 
‘economically practicable’ to deliver separate collection? Agree 

  If you disagree with any of the above, please provide the reason for your response and indicate 
which example you are referring to. Not applicable 

      

Q29 What other examples of ‘economically practicable’ should be considered in this proposal? 
Please be as specific as possible No other examples spring to mind. 

      

Q30 Do you have any views on what might constitute ‘excessive costs’ in terms of economic 
practicability? 

Term needs defining, an example could be when compared to 
cost of co-collecting or collecting the stream within residual 

P
age 21



Appendix 1 – Draft Consistency Consultation response - HPBC 

 
 

waste which could both generate proportionally higher costs. 

      

Q31 Do you have any views on what should be considered ‘significant,’ in terms of cases where 
separate collection provides no significant environmental benefit over the collection of 
recyclable waste streams together? 

Difficult to define what is significant, what is affordable by one LA 
may not be affordable to another, therefore "significant" needs 
to be relevant councils financial position and circumstances. 

      

Q32 Do you agree or disagree that the proposed examples for ‘no significant environmental benefit’ 
are appropriate? Agree 

  If you disagree with any of the above, please provide the reason for your response and indicate 
which example you are referring to Not applicable 

      

Q33 What other examples of ‘no significant environmental benefit’ should be included in this 
proposal? Please be as specific as possible. No examples spring to mind. 

      

Proposal 12 - Compliance and enforcement 

Q34 Do you agree or disagree that local authorities should only be required to submit a single 
written assessment for their service area? Agree 

  If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response Not applicable 

      

Q35 
What other ways to reduce the burden on local authorities should we consider for the written 
assessment? 

Joint assessments maybe suitable for example where services are 
operated by councils in an Alliance or where shared services exist 
across a county area. 

      

Q36 

What factors should be taken into consideration including in the written assessment? For 
example, different housing stock in a service area, costs of breaking existing contractual 
arrangements and/or access to treatment facilities. 

Geography of area, rurality of area, distance to treatment 
facilities and availability of suitable transfer facilities for example 
facilities that can accommodate, based on size and scale, a 
transfer arrangement that is suitable for separate collection of 
materials.  

      

Q37 
Do you agree or disagree that reference to standard default values and data, which could be Agree 

P
age 22



Appendix 1 – Draft Consistency Consultation response - HPBC 

 
 

used to support a written assessment, would be useful? 

  If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. Not applicable 

      

Q38 Do you agree or disagree that a template for a written assessment would be useful to include 
in guidance? Agree 

  
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

Yes but LAs should be also able to provide additional info and 
statements or produce a similar individual document. 

      

Proposal 13 - Minimum service standards for the separate collection of dry recyclable materials from households 

Q39 Do you agree or disagree with Proposal 13, particularly on the separation of fibres from other 
recyclable waste streams and the collection of plastic films? Agree 

  
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

As long as the evidence demonstrates that comingling of fibre 
with other materials is detrimental on quality.  

      

Proposal 14 - Non-statutory guidance 

Q40 
Which service areas or materials would be helpful to include in non-statutory guidance? 

Healthcare waste including offensive and hazardous types, WEEE, 
textiles 

      

Proposal 15 - Review of Part 2 of Schedule 9 of the Environmental Permitting Regulations 2016 

Q41 Do you have any comments on the recommendations from the review of the Part 2 of Schedule 
9 of the Environmental Permitting Regulations? No comments, all seem sensible inclusions. 

      

Q42 If amendments are made to Part 2 of Schedule 9, do you agree or disagree that it is necessary 
to continue to retain requirements to sample nonpackaging dry recyclable materials? Agree 

  

Please provide the reason for your response where possible. 

It has been historically difficult to obtain final destination of 
recyclables material if sent overseas, the proposal will hopefully 
address this. 

      

Proposal 16 - Recycling credits 

P
age 23



Appendix 1 – Draft Consistency Consultation response - HPBC 

 
 

Q43 Do you agree or disagree that provision for exchange of recycling credits should not relate to 
packaging material subject to Extended Producer Responsibility payments? Agree 

  

Please provide the reason for your response where possible. 

Yes because otherwise there would be a duplication of payment. 
Recycling credits need to make financial contributions for 
materials not covered by EPR.  

      

Q44 In relation to recycled waste streams not affected by Extended Producer Responsibility or 
which are not new burdens we are seeking views on two options - please state if you agree to 
disagree with each option:    

  Option 1. Should we retain requirements for Waste Disposal Authorities to make payment of 
recycling credits or another levy arrangement with Waste Collection Authorities in respect of 
non-packaging waste?  Agree 

  Option 2. Should we discontinue recycling credits and require all two-tier authorities to agree 
local arrangements? Disagree 

      

Q45 Where local agreement cannot be arrived at what are your suggestions for resolving these? For 
example, should a binding formula be applied as currently and if so, please provide examples of 
what this could look like 

Yes something is required to refer to if a local arrangement 
cannot be agreed be obtained or agreed to. This needs to reflect 
actual costs incurred by the parties to ensure it is fair. 

      

Part 2: Measures to improve the recycling of non-household municipal waste from businesses and non-domestic premises 

Proposal 17 - Dry materials to be collected from nonhousehold municipal premises for recycling 

Q46 Do you agree or disagree that waste collectors should be required to collect the following dry 
materials from all non-household premises for recycling, in 2023/24?   

Aluminium foil   Agree 

Aluminium food trays Agree 

Steel and aluminium aerosols  Agree 

Aluminium tubes, e.g. tomato puree tubes Agree 

Metal jar lids Agree 

Food and drink cartons, e.g. TetraPak Agree 

P
age 24



Appendix 1 – Draft Consistency Consultation response - HPBC 

 
 

  If you disagree with the inclusion of any of the materials above in the timeframe set out, please 
provide the reason for your response and indicate which dry recyclable material you are 
referring to Not applicable 

      

Q47 Some waste collectors may not be able to collect all the items in the dry recyclable waste 
streams from all non-household municipal premises in 2023/24. Under what circumstances 
might it be appropriate for these collection services to begin after this date?   

Collection contracts Yes 

Sorting contracts Yes 

Materials Recovery Facility (MRF) infrastructure capacity Yes 

Cost burden Yes 

Reprocessing Yes 

End markets Yes 

Other (please specify)   

Please provide the reason for your response and indicate how long waste collectors require 
before they can collect all these materials 

We already collect these materials from non-household 
municipal premises but not all LAs do, issue may arise if contracts 
need amending which may not be reviewed ahead of 2023-24 

      

Proposal 18 - Collection of plastic films from non-household municipal premises 

Q48 Do you agree or disagree that collections of plastic films could be introduced by the end of 
2024/25 from non-household municipal premises? Disagree 

  

If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response and any evidence as to why this 
would not be feasible 

The timeframe should mirror that required from households. We 
collect from non-household municipal premises alongside 
domestic properties i.e. a shared round, requiring us to collect 
this stream from these premises ahead of domestic premises will 
require us to change our collection contracts for a smaller 
proportion of the potential waste stream, would make more 
sense for the change to be aligned. 

      

Q49 Do you have any other comments on this proposal? For example, please specify any barriers 
that may prevent collectors delivering these services 

End markets, reprocessing and MRF infrastructure, collection and 
treatment/sorting contracts. 

P
age 25



Appendix 1 – Draft Consistency Consultation response - HPBC 

 
 

      

Proposal 19 - On-site food waste treatment technologies 

Q50 Do you agree or disagree with Proposal 19? Agree 

      

Q51  
Do you have any other comments on the use of these technologies and the impact on costs to 
businesses and recycling performance? 

This will drive recycling, though businesses should be financially 
supported. Storage space will be an issue for some SME's or 
urban premises. 

      

Proposal 20 - Reducing barriers to recycling for non-household municipal waste producer 

Q52 What are the main barriers that businesses (and micro-firms in particular) face to recycle 
more?   

Communication Some barrier 

Financial Large barrier 

Space Large barrier 

Engagement Some barrier 

Drivers to segregate waste Large barrier 

Location Large barrier 

Enforcement Some barrier 

Variation in bin colours and signage Some barrier 

Contractual Some barrier 

Staff / training Some barrier 

Other (please specify)   

  
Please provide any comments on how these barriers can be overcome 

National promotion will be helpful, some standardisation would 
then occur in coms, training etc 

      

Proposal 21 - Exemptions and phasing for micro firms 

Q53 Should micro-firms (including businesses, other organisations and nondomestic premises that 
employ fewer than 10 FTEs) be exempt from the requirement to present the five recyclable 
waste streams (paper & card, glass, metal, plastic, food waste) for recycling? Please select the 
option that most closely represents your view and provide any evidence to support your 

No – but all micro-firms should be given two additional years to 
comply with the new requirements in the Environment Bill (i.e. 
compliant in 2025/26) – Option 2 

P
age 26



Appendix 1 – Draft Consistency Consultation response - HPBC 

 
 

comments. 

  
  

Allows time for micro firms to assess the impact and make 
necessary changes i.e. have budgetary provision. 

Q54 Should any non-household municipal premises other than micro-sized firms be exempt from 
the requirement? Please provide evidence to support your comments. 

No, to drive recycling performance nationally the requirement to 
use such services needs to become compulsory. 

      

Proposal 22 - Other cost reduction options 

Q55 Which recyclable waste streams should be included under a potential zoning scheme? For each 
option, please select either agree, disagree, or not sure / don’t have an opinion / not 
applicable.   

  Dry recyclable waste streams (glass, metal, plastic, paper and card) Not sure / no opinion 

  Food waste Not sure / no opinion 

  Other items e.g. bulky office waste (please specify) Not sure / no opinion 

      

Q56 Which of the following options, if any, is your preferred option for zoning/collaborative 
procurement? Please select the option that most closely aligns with your preference 

Co-collection – the contractor for household services also deliver 
the non-household municipal services 

      

Q57 Do you have any views on the roles of stakeholders (for example Defra, the Environment 
Agency, WRAP, local authorities, business improvement districts, businesses and other 
organisations and chambers of commerce) in implementing a potential zoning or franchising 
scheme?   

For example, do you think there could be roles for one or more of these organisations in each 
of the following activities:   

Procurement Yes 

Scheme design Yes 

Administration and day to day management Yes 

Enforcement Yes 

Business support Yes 

P
age 27



Appendix 1 – Draft Consistency Consultation response - HPBC 

 
 

Development of tools and guidance Yes 

Delivery of communications campaigns Yes 

Any other activities (please specify) No 

If you think that there is a role for any other stakeholders, please specify Not applicable 

Please provide explanations where possible to support your above response. 
List is expansive, covers every potential role which will be 
needed. 

      

Q58 

Do you have any further views on how a potential waste collection franchising / zoning scheme 
could be implemented? 

Reason for previously stating co-collection preference as we 
already co-collect from non-household municipal premises 
alongside our domestic properties, this ensures efficiency, 
reduces cost, is environmentally better. Changing this option 
would mean our council loses potential income generated via this 
service. Waste collection 'families' who can chose and work with 
supplier that provides best service for their waste. Exemptions in 
place for those who would not benefit from this.  

      

Q59 
Do you have any views on how Government can support non-household municipal waste 
producers to procure waste management services collaboratively? This could include working 
with other stakeholders. 

Whatever option is chosen for zoning needs to take into account 
the fact that LAs need an opportunity to tender for this work, 
otherwise private waste companies will monopolise this area of 
provision. 

      

Q60 Which type(s) of business support would be helpful? (Select any number of responses)   

  1:1 support Yes 

  National /regional campaigns Yes 

  National guidance and good practice case studies Yes 

  Online business support tools (e.g. online calculators and good practice guidance) Yes 

  Other (please specify)   

      

P
age 28



Appendix 1 – Draft Consistency Consultation response - HPBC 

 
 

Q61 

Are there any barriers to setting up commercial waste bring sites, and do you find these sites 
useful? 

We have no experience of delivering such services however when 
we did provide bring sites for household waste they were 
regularly abused, material quality was poor due to contamination 
and sites were prone to fly tipping. Finding appropriate sites 
could be challenging, how will such services be paid for? 

      

Proposal 23 -  Exemptions to the separate collection of two waste streams from non-household municipal premises 

Q62 Could the following recyclable waste streams be collected together from non-household 
municipal premises, without significantly reducing the potential for those streams to be 
recycled?   

  Plastic and metal Agree 

  Glass and metal Agree 

  If you have agreed with either of the above, please provide evidence to justify why any 
proposed exemption would be compatible with the general requirement for separate collection 
of each recyclable waste stream 

These material streams are already co-collected and are unlikely 
to contaminate each other. Sorting mechanisms are already in 
place at many material recycling facilities (MRFs). 

      

Q63 What, if any, other exemptions would you propose to the requirement to collect the recyclable 
waste stream in each waste stream separately where it would not significantly reduce the 
potential for recycling or composting? 

Proposal for metal, plastics and glass to be co-collected. We 
provided this service some years ago very successfully with little 
contamination and good quality end product being produced.  

  

    

Proposal 24 -  Conditions where an exemption may apply and two or more recyclable waste streams may be collected together from non-household municipal 
premises 

Q64 

Do you have any views on the proposed definition for ‘technically practicable’? 

Definition of "in practice" needs quantifying, a scheme could 
operate well in a small area which wouldn't be realistic if rolled 
out across a wider area.  

      

Q65 Do you agree or disagree that the proposed examples cover areas where it may not be 
‘technically practicable’ to deliver separate collection? Agree 

  If you have disagreed with any of the above, please say why and indicate which example you 
are referring to Not applicable 

P
age 29



Appendix 1 – Draft Consistency Consultation response - HPBC 

 
 

      

Q66 What other examples of areas that are not ‘technically practicable’ should be considered in this 
proposal? Please be as specific as possible No other examples spring to mind. 

      

Q67 Do you agree or disagree that the proposed examples cover areas that may not be 
‘economically practicable’ to deliver separate collection are appropriate? Agree 

  If you have disagreed with any of the above, please say why and indicate which example you 
are referring to Not applicable 

      

Q68 What other examples of ‘economically practicable’ should be considered in this proposal? 
Please be as specific as possible Cost to the business of a separate collection could be prohibitive. 

      

Q69 

Do you have any views on what might constitute ‘excessive costs’ in terms of economic 
practicability? 

Term needs defining, an example could be when compared to 
cost of co-collecting or collecting the stream within residual 
waste which could both generate proportionally higher costs. 

      

Q70 
Do you have any views on what should be considered ‘significant,’ in terms of cases where 
separate collection provides no significant environmental benefit over the collection of 
recyclable waste streams together? 

Difficult to define what is significant, what is affordable by one 
organisation may not be affordable to another, therefore 
"significant" needs to be relevant organisations financial position 
and circumstances. 

      

Q71 Do you agree or disagree that the proposed examples for ‘no significant environmental benefit’ 
are appropriate? Agree 

  If you have disagreed with any of the above, please say why and indicate which example you 
are referring to Not applicable 

      

Q72 What other examples of ‘no significant environmental benefit’ should be included in this 
proposal? Please be as specific as possible None spring to mind 

      

Proposal 25 - Compliance and enforcement 

P
age 30



Appendix 1 – Draft Consistency Consultation response - HPBC 

 
 

Q73 What ways to reduce the burden on waste collectors and producers should we consider for the 
written assessment? Template provision, enable joint assessments where practicable. 

      

Q74 We are proposing to include factors in the written assessment which take account of the 
different collection requirements, for example, different premises within a service area. What 
other factors should we consider including in the written assessment? 

Storage space if container are required for separate streams to 
be collected, a lack of space is often an issue for urban premises. 

      

Q75 Would reference to standard default values and data, that could be used to support a written 
assessment, be useful? Agree 

  If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. Not applicable 

      

Q76 Do you agree or disagree that a template for a written assessment would be useful to include 
in guidance? Agree 

  If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. Not applicable 

      

Q77 Do you agree or disagree that the proposed approach to written assessments and non-
household municipal collections will deliver the overall objectives of encouraging greater 
separation and assessing where the three exceptions (technical and economical practicability 
and environmental benefit) apply? Agree 

      

Proposal 26 - costs and benefits of implementing the changes proposed in this consultation 

Q78 

Do you have any comments and/or evidence on familiarisation costs (e.g. time of FTE(s) spent 
on understanding and implementing new requirements) and ongoing costs (e.g. sorting costs) 
to households and businesses 

We have not made any significant changes to services in a 
number of years, doing so is very labour intensive and will 
require input from wide range of council service areas including 
customer services, communications as well as operational or 
contractual teams.  Until we make an assessment and fully are 
clear of the changes we are required to make, we cannot provide 
any detail to this question. 

      

Q79 Do you have any comments on our impact assessment assumptions and identified impacts 
(including both monetised and unmonetised)? None 

P
age 31



Appendix 1 – Draft Consistency Consultation response - HPBC 

 
 
 

P
age 32


	Agenda
	1 DEFRA Waste Consultation
	Appendix


